IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

	:
THERESA JEAN NORRIS,	:
	:
Petitioner,	:
	:
V.	:
	:
DARRELL TREADWELL,	:
	:
Respondent.	:
	•

CASE NO: SC05-1326 L.T. Case No.: 1D04-3983

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HARRELL & HARRELL, P.A. David R. Black Florida Bar No. 0791911 Donald F. Black Florida Bar No. 0227791 4735 Sunbeam Rd. Jacksonville, FL 32257 (904) 251-1111 (904) 296-7710 (facsimile) Attorneys for Petitioner

I. <u>

III. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Theresa Norris, will be referred to as "Ms. Norris". Respondent, Darrell Treadwell, will be referred to as "Mr. Treadwell". Citations to the appendix will appear as (A - ___). Rule 1.525, Fla. R. Civ. P. will appear as "R. 1.525". The First District Court of Appeal's plurality decision in <u>Norris v. Treadwell</u>, 2005 Fla. App. Lexis 9727 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) will appear as the "Norris" decision.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Ms. Norris appeals the District Court of Appeals affirmance of the Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Tax Trial Costs and Assess Attorney's Fees and the Final Judgment in favor of Mr. Treadwell awarding fees and costs (A - 1) more than two years post-verdict, despite the fact that Mr. Treadwell never made a R. 1.525 motion **after** filing of judgment as required by R. 1.525.

On February 27, 2001, Mr. Treadwell's car struck the middle of Ms. Norris' car in the middle of the intersection of Lenox Avenue and Edgewood Avenue in Jacksonville, Florida.

As a result of this accident Ms. Norris sued Mr. Treadwell. On February 21, 2002, the jury found Mr. Treadwell was not negligent in this accident and the trial Court entered final judgment on June 27, 2002. (A - 6) The trial court reserved jurisdiction to rule on Mr. Treadwell's Motion to Assess Attorneys' Fees and Costs made March 8, 2002 prior to judgment.

Ms. Norris appealed to the First District Court of Appeals which affirmed the trial court's denial of a new trial and issued its mandate to the trial court on October 23, 2003. The trial court granted Mr. Treadwell's Motion to tax costs and fees on July 26, 2004 despite the fact that Mr. Treadwell **never** made a motion **within** thirty days **after** filing of the **judgment** pursuant to R. 1.525. (A – 7, 8).

Respondent's March 8, 2002 motion for attorneys' fees and costs was not heard because no judgment had been entered (A - 10) until more than two (2) years had passed since judgment and more than eight (8) months after issuance of mandate.

Ms. Norris appealed to the First District Court of Appeals which affirmed the trial courts decision in a plurality decision making the unique determination that a R. 1.525 motion was timely if filed after "entitlement." <u>Norris v. Treadwell</u>, 2005 Fla. App. Lexis 9727 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) (A – 1). This petition ensued as "Norris" is in direct conflict with <u>Swann v. Dinan</u>, 884 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004) on the same point of law, which leaves the jurisprudence of this state in confusion and lacking in uniformity.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The language of R. 1.525 (A- 8) as adopted by this Court sets a bright line rule which must be strictly construed. R. 1.525 states that a motion shall be served within thirty days **after** filing of the **judgment**.

Petitioner, Respondent (A- 15) and all District Courts of Appeal agree that R. 1.525 provides a thirty-day window in which to file the motion after judgment.

Petitioner, Respondent (A- 15) and all District Courts of Appeal agree that the thirty-day clock ends thirty days after filing of a judgment.

Respondent (A- 14) and the Norris plurality believe the thirty-day clock begins "as soon as entitlement is established" (A- 3).

Courts are without authority to construe unambiguous language of a rule such as "within thirty days after filing of the judgment" (A - 8).

In this case, Respondent is only entitled to attorneys' fees after filing of a **judgment**, pursuant to §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001). (A- 17) The mere announcement of a jury verdict does not create an "entitlement" pursuant to §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001) as it is the Court, not the jury, which enters judgment.

Entitlement to attorney's fees is in derogation of the common law and as such entitlement to attorney's fees should be narrowly construed. (A - 4) The "Norris" interpretation of R. 1.525 will focus inquiry upon: "What is a reasonable time to file a motion **before** filing a judgment?" Even if Respondent moved for an award of attorneys'

fees in his answer; he should be deemed to have failed to comply with R. 1.525. <u>Diaz v.</u> <u>Bowen</u>, 832 So. 2d 200 (2^{nd} DCA 2002) (A – 22, 23).

To eliminate this uncertainty and reiterate the explicit language which creates a thirty-day clock for a party to file a R. 1.525 motion after filing a judgment, Petitioner requests this Court reverse the holding of "Norris" and adopt the R. 1.525 interpretation of <u>Swann v. Dinan</u>, 884 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004) (A – 19) that is certified to be in direct conflict with "Norris." (A - 3)

VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. R. 1.525 ESTABLISHES A THIRTY-DAY TIME PERIOD AFTER JUDGMENT HAS BEEN ENTERED IN WHICH A PARTY MUST FILE A MOTION FOR COSTS AND ATTORNEYS FEES

<u>Standard of Review.</u> Review as to an issue involving construction of the rules of civil procedure is <u>de novo</u>. <u>Dep't of Transp. V. Southtrust Bank</u>, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 17299 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004).

Respondent failed to comply with the mandatory language of R. 1.525. As a result, the entry of final judgment awarding costs and fees should be reversed. Respondent filed a motion for costs and attorney's fees before judgment was entered. The rule itself defines the starting point within which a motion should be filed, as "after the filing of judgment." (A – 8)

This Court has held, "The award of statutory authorization for attorney fees is to be strictly construed" <u>Sakis v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 863 So. 2d 210, 223 (Fla. 2003). Since, the award of attorney's fees is in derogation of the common law, the statute and R. 1.525 must be given its plain and ordinary meaning and strictly construed. (A - 4)

Courts are not at liberty to construe unambiguous language; nor are they permitted to add to a statute language not placed therein at adoption <u>B.C., Petitioner v. Fla. Dept. of</u> <u>Children and Families</u>, 887 So. 2d 1046 (Fla. 2004). The "Norris" plurality had no need to construe the word "judgment" in R. 1.525 or §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001). Under any recognized rule of construction the Norris plurality could not construe "entitlement" or verdict as a judgment or add the word "entitlement" or verdict to R. 1.525. The word "within" as used in R. 1.525 creates the allowable period of time for a party to file a R. 1.525 motion after judgment has been entered. There is no ambiguity regarding the beginning of the time period for a R. 1.525 motion. Logic dictates that there is no R. 1.525 motion to file until there is a judgment as §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001) requires a judgment to entitle a party to fees and costs. The Rule states:

"Any party seeking a judgment taxing costs, attorney's fees or both shall serve a motion **within** 30 days **after** filing of the **judgment**." R. 1.525 Emphasis added

Furthermore, §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001) provides:

"Upon motion made by the offeror within 30 days after the entry of judgment..."

§768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001) requires the entry of judgment for the entitlement of

costs and attorneys' fees. The Third DCA in Business Success Group, Inc. v. Argus

Trade Realty Investments, Inc., 898 So. 2d 970 (3rd DCA 2005), stated:

"An award of attorneys' fees is not ripe for review or hearing until the entry of judgment."

As a result, the "Norris" decision is also in direct conflict with §768.79(6), Fla.

Stat. (2001) and the Third DCA decision of Business Success Group. §768.79(6), Fla.

Stat. (2001) does not entitle a party to move for attorneys' fees until a judgment has been

entered.

If the "Norris" decision were allowed to stand, entitlement to attorneys' fees and costs would be left in a state of confusion. This situation would present itself, when

Courts heard §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001) motions prior to the entry of judgment or as the "Norris" court determined, "as soon as entitlement is established."

The phrase "after filing of the judgment" is a key focal point in this case. The word "after" as used in R. 1.525 is used to modify the phrase "filing of the judgment." The dictionary definition of "after" is "a: behind in place or b: subsequent to in time or order." (Merriam – Webster online Dictionary August 12, 2005). As a result, the function of the word "after" as a preposition in Rule 1.525 creates the understanding that the thirty day requirement is subsequent in time to the filing of the **judgment**.

When reading R. 1.525 in its entirety, it is clear that the thirty-day clock begins "after the filing of judgment" and ends "within" thirty days. Consequently, the thirty-day requirement in R. 1.525 indicates an enclosure or containment of time. The thirty-day window begins the moment after the filing of the judgment and ends at the expiration of the thirtieth day. Respondent is only "entitled" to attorneys' fees after entry of a judgment [See §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001)]. Respondent never filed a R. 1.525 motion after judgment.

2. EVERY FLORIDA DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HAS UPHELD THE STRICT LANGUAGE OF R. 1.525 TO INSURE PREDICTABILITY AND CONSISTENCY WITH THE SOLE EXCEPTION OF THE NORRIS PLURALITY

<u>Standard of Review.</u> Review as to an issue involving construction of the rules of civil procedure is <u>de novo</u>. <u>Dep't of Transp. V. Southtrust Bank</u>, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 17299 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004).

The mandatory language of R. 1.525 has been followed by all District Courts of Appeal except "Norris". Each District has numerous rulings regarding the application of the end of the thirty day window of time for parties to file a R. 1.525 motion. This is evidenced by Courts continuously holding, after the 2001 amendment, that R. 1.525 "must be enforced if it is to remain the bright line rule as intended by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure Committee and adopted by the Supreme Court."

See: Dep't of Transp. v. Southtrust Bank, 886 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004); Lyn v. Lyn, 884 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004); <u>E & A Produce Corp. v. Superior Garlic Int'l</u> Inc., 864 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2003); <u>Yachting Promotions Inc., v. Broward Yachts,</u> Inc., 876 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); <u>Wentworth v. Johnson</u>, 845 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003).

Since the amendment to R 1.525, a few trial courts attempted to change the starting time of the thirty-day clock set by R. 1.525 to allow motions made before entry of a judgment as exceptions to R. 1.525. Until the "Norris" decision, all such trial court decisions have been reversed.

The Second District Court in *Lyn*, <u>supra</u>, held that a wife in a dissolution of marriage action failed to comply with R. 1.525 when she filed a notice of hearing for attorneys' fees based on a reservation of jurisdiction made prior to entry of judgment. In reversing the trial court ruling because she failed to file a R. 1.525 motion **after** entry of **judgment**, the *Lyn* court stated:

"These results may seem inequitable under the specific circumstances of each case. They are undoubtedly examples of the type of growing pains that occur whenever attorneys do not immediately adjust their practices to significant change in procedural law. As tempted as we are to relieve these pains in individual cases, they cannot be relieved at the expense of the plain language of the rule and the rule's intent to create predictability and consistency in post judgment requests for attorney's fees' (A - 27)

The Lyn court specifically rejected Respondent's "too-soon" argument (A - 16) by

stating:

"(Lyn) argues the motion for attorneys' fees....should be treated as premature, but timely,R.1.525 specifically requires that the motion for fees and costs be served 'within thirty days after filing of the judgment'... In light of this language, we decline to create the ambiguity that would undoubtedly flow from the concept of a premature....motion." (A - 28).

In Yachting Promotions, supra, (A - 30) the plaintiff asserted that the proper time

from which to calculate the beginning of the R. 1.525 thirty-day clock was from the issuance of the mandate. The trial court in *Yachting Promotions* ignored the clear language of Rule 1.525 and created a "special rule" designating the issuance of the mandate as the beginning of the thirty- day clock. The Fourth DCA in reversing the trial court's ruling stated:

"The rule is extremely clear, in order to be timely, the motion had to be filed 'within 30 days after filing of the judgment' . . . Rule 1.525 was created to establish a bright-line rule to resolve the uncertainty surrounding the timing of these posttrial motions . . . There can be no bright line if trial courts are permitted to elect a starting point for the thirty-day clock to begin to run."

"Norris" has created a new starting point as soon as "entitlement" is established (A

-3) for the thirty-day clock to begin to run. By so holding "Norris" created a debate,

avoided by the Lyn (A - 28), Diaz (A - 21), Swann (A - 19) and Yachting Promotions

(A - 30) which hold the judgment begins the thirty-day clock, as to "entitlement". Is entitlement the announcement of a jury verdict?; its recordation?; the denial of a new trial motion?; the issuance of mandate?; the denial of a Rule 1.540, Fla. R. Civ. P. motion; remittitur; additur; the notice of a hearing on fees?; or some other event prior to or subsequent to the filing of the judgment.

In *Gulf Landings*, <u>supra</u> (A – 36), Plaintiff prevailed in the trial court and the court reserved jurisdiction to determine both the entitlement and amount of attorney fees which might be awarded. Although Plaintiff noticed a hearing on fees, Plaintiff did not file a R. 1.525 motion within thirty days after the filing of judgment. About two months after the entry of judgment the trial court awarded costs and fees to the Plaintiff because the court had reserved ruling on the motion. In reversing the trial court the Second DCA stated:

"With some reluctance, we must reverse this order. Although Gulf Landings (Defendant) was aware of the claim for attorney's fees . . .and therefore could not have been prejudiced by the procedures used by both Mr. Hershberger (Plaintiff) and the trial court, Rule 1.525 was created to establish a bright-line rule governing the timeliness of post trial motions for costs and attorney fees." (A - 36)

"These circumstances cannot overrule the plain language of Rule 1.525. Special rules for such circumstances would simply return the courts to an era in which the time for the filing of these motions would again be uncertain." <u>Gulf Landings Ass'n. v. Hershberger</u>, 845 So.2d 344, 346 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003) (A - 36)

Similarly, Respondent who prevailed at the trial court filed his R. 1.525 motion prior to the entry of judgment and then relied upon his untimely and out-of-rule motion to request the award of costs and attorney's fees. Respondent has never filed a R. 1.525 motion after the entry of judgment. The "special rule" created by "Norris" which allows a motion to be served as soon as entitlement is established, should be reversed as rewriting the plain language of R. 1.525 and recreating uncertainty.

Just 22 days prior to "Norris" in <u>Braxton v. Morris</u>, 2005 Fla. App. Lexis 8112 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), the *Braxton* court held a R. 1.525 motion must be complied with unless by motion filed pursuant to Rule 1.090(b), Fla. R. Civ. P., the movant seeks to extend the thirty day period provided by R. 1.525. In this case, the Respondent did not request a Rule 1.090(b) Fla. R. Civ. P. enlargement of time

"Norris" is certified to be in conflict with the decision of <u>Swann v. Dinan</u>, 884 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004). In *Swann*, the jury in the underlying automobile negligence case returned a verdict of no liability. As a result of the verdict the Defendant was entitled to file a motion to tax attorney's fees and costs pursuant to a previously served proposal for settlement after entry of judgment in compliance with §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001). The Defendant, as Respondent did, filed his R. 1.525 motion after the verdict and prior to the entry of judgment. The *Swann* Court enforced the bright line rule this Court established in R. 1.525 by reversing the trial courts order. The Court held:

"The rule required a party seeking fees and costs to serve a motion within 30 days after the filing of the judgment." "... we once again conclude that as unpleasant as it is to strictly enforce Rule 1.525, it must be enforced if it is to remain the "bright line rule as intended by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure Committee and adopted by the Supreme Court." (A - 20)

R. 1.525 established a thirty-day clock which begins to run after the entry of

judgment and ends in thirty days.

VII. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Petitioner, never having filed a R. 1.525 motion after filing of the judgment, has failed to comply with R. 1.525. The rule specifically states that a party shall file his motion within thirty days after the filing of the judgment. Petitioner submits that "after" creates a thirty-day clock in which a R. 1.525 motion should be filed "within" thirty days after judgment. Respondent's failure to comply with the rule is fatal to his claim. The language of R. 1.525 is plain and unambiguous. Its language requires no interpretation. R. 1.525 and §768.79(6), Fla. Stat. (2001) are in derogation of common law and should be strictly construed. There is no "entitlement" to attorneys' fees without a judgment.

It is the court, not the jury, which enters judgment. Respondent made no Rule 1.090(b) motion to enlarge time. The "Norris" "entitlement" decision will create chaos and destroy a rule expressly designed to create a bright line.

This Court should rule in accordance with the clear unambiguous words of R. 1.525 and the rules of statutory construction and adopt the reasoning of <u>Swann v. Dinan</u>, 884 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004) and disapprove the "entitlement" rule adopted by the Norris plurality.