## IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

THERESA JEAN NORRIS,

Petitioner, CASE NO.:SCO5-1326

L.T. Case No.: 1D04-3983

v.

DARRELL TREADWELL,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\_\_\_\_\_

#### HARRIS BROWN, P.A.

Francis J. Milon, Esquire
Florida Bar No.: 369640
12 East Bay Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 354-0624
Attorneys for Respondent Treadwell

### I.

#### III. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Respondent, Darrell Treadwell, will utilize the same abbreviations as Petitioner in her Initial Brief. The parties will be referred to by their proper names or by reference to their status in the lower court. The decision in the court below, Norris v.Treadwell, 907 So.2d 1217 (Fla.1st DCA 2005), will be referred to as Norris.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Respondent Treadwell accepts Plaintiff's statement of the case and facts, and adds the following for clarity:

On February 21, 2002, the jury returned a verdict finding Defendant Darrell Treadwell not negligent. The Defendant served a Proposal for Settlement on October 4, 2001, and on March 8, 2002, moved for attorneys' fees and costs (R Vol. I - pp.99-107). A hearing on the motion was set but had to be canceled because no judgment had been entered. Final Judgment for Defendant Treadwell was eventually entered on June 28, 2002. The Final Judgment reserved jurisdiction to allow the court to rule on Defendant's pending motion for costs and attorneys' fees (R-Vol. I p. 116). At the time the trial judge entered final judgment, he was aware of the pending motion and reserved jurisdiction specifically to allow consideration of the motion. (R Vol. 2 pp. 1-15).7

On July 11, 2002 Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal (R-Vol. I pp. 110-111). The Final Judgement was affirmed and the court's mandate was entered October 23, 2003 (R-Vol. I pp. 112-114).

On June 21, 2004, a hearing was held on Defendant

Treadwell's still pending motion for costs and fees (R Vol. 2

- pp. 1-15). Plaintiff argued at the hearing, as she does now, that Defendant's motion was untimely because it was filed before, and not after, entry of the Final Judgment. On July 26, 2004, a Final Judgment for costs and fees was entered (R-Vol. I p. 116). Plaintiff then took another appeal, disputing the propriety of the award of costs and fees. The judgment for costs and fees was affirmed. The First DCA certified conflict with a Second DCA case. None of theses facts are in dispute.

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent Treadwell, after return of a jury verdict in his favor, but before entry of a final judgment, served a motion for attorney's fees and costs pursuant to a Proposal for Settlement. The sole issue presented in this appeal is whether the motion was timely served pursuant to Rule 1.525. Fla. R. Civ. P. (hereinafter, "Rule 1.525").

The procedural issue of the timeliness of the motion is the only question presented. Despite some statements in the dissent below and some argument in Petitioner's Initial Brief, there is no substantive issue of entitlement to fees for this Court to consider.

On January 1, 2001, Rule 1.525 was amended. The amendment provided that motions seeking attorneys fees and costs shall be made within 30 days after entry of judgment. The prior rule had required such motions be made within a reasonable time.

The "reasonable time" requirement gave rise to considerable litigation over the definition of a "reasonable time" and different courts came to different conclusions. The rule was amended to eliminate confusion and to assist in bringing matters to a timely conclusion. The amended rule established a "bright line" or "deadline," setting a time limit for the service of motions for fees and costs.

The Supreme Court of Florida has held that the term "within" does not fix the first point of time, but rather the limit beyond which action may not be taken. Accordingly, a motion filed early (before entry of a final judgment) is within the time requirements of Rule 1.525 and is timely.

Petitioner Norris complains, not that Treadwell's motion was not served, or served too late, but that it was too soon. Early is not the same as too late or not at all. The trial court and the First DCA correctly found the motion timely and the judgment should be affirmed.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

# DEFENDANT'S MOTION WAS TIMELY AND IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 1.525

#### A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review for construction of rules is <u>de</u>
novo. State Dept. of Transportation v. Southtrust Bank, 886
So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004).

#### B. Argument:

Respondent Treadwell served a motion for attorneys' fees and costs 15 days after return of the jury verdict, but before entry of a final judgment. The only issue presented in this appeal is whether the motion was timely pursuant to Rule 1.525. Petitioner makes the technical argument that the rule creates a narrow 30 day window of opportunity which starts upon entry of final judgment and ends 30 days thereafter. The trial court and the First DCA rejected a narrow and technical reading of the rule and found Treadwell's motion timely. Norris.

The procedural issue of the timeliness of Defendant Treadwell's motion for fees and costs is the only argument that Petitioner Norris raised in the trial court (R Vol.2 pp 1-15) or in the appellate court below. The dissent below made reference to Section 768.79(6), Fla. Stat., the substantive right to attorneys' fees and strict construction of statutes in derogation of the common law. Petitioner has used these references in her Initial Brief to now suggest that the

decision below conflicts with the statute and decisions interpreting it.

These arguments serve no purpose. There is no issue herein regarding a substantive right to attorneys' fees. The only issue raised is procedural.

On January 1, 2001, Rule 1.525 was amended to put a time limit of 30 days on the service of motions for costs and attorneys fees. The predecessor rule had required only that such motions be made within a "reasonable time." The amendment to the rule was designed to resolve uncertainty concerning the timing of post-trial motions and to bring them to a timely conclusion. Wentworth v. Johnson, 845 So. 2nd 296 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003); McFarland & Son, inc. v. Basel, 877 So. 2nd 964 (Fla 5th DCA 2004).

The rule as amended requires that a party moving for costs and/or fees, "...shall serve a motion within 30 days after filing of the judgment..."

The Supreme Court of Florida has held that the term "within" means "not longer in time than" or "not later than". "Within" does not fix the first point of time, but the limit beyond which action may not be taken. Chatlos v. Overstreet, 124 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1960). In Chatlos, the Court considered a statute which provided that suit "...be instituted within sixty days from the time the assessment shall become final..." Suit was commenced before the assessment became final. The lower court dismissed the suit for lack of jurisdiction. The Supreme Court ruled that the correct interpretation of the

time requirement, "within sixty days" was as a deadline for action and not as a prohibition upon an early action.

Although <u>Chatlos</u> dealt with interpretation of a statute, its holding has been followed in the interpretation of a rule of procedure. In <u>Bradford Builders Inc.</u> v. <u>Phillips Petroleum Co.</u>, 154 So. 2d 189 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1963), the court followed <u>Chatlos</u> and held that "within" means "not later than" in interpreting a rule of civil procedure.

Accordingly, a motion for costs and fees served before entry of a final judgment is "within" the time requirements of Rule 1.525 and is timely. Respondent did not, as Petitioner contends in her brief, either ignore or seek to rewrite the rule. Respondent simply followed well-established precedent.

The two Second DCA cases upon which Plaintiff relies deal with motions filed before entry of final judgment and hold that Rule 1.525 is to be interpreted as restricting such motions to a 30 day window. Lyn v. Lyn, 848 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004); Swann v. Dinan, 884 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004). Interestingly, both the Lyn and Swann courts acknowledged that their holdings might seem harsh, painful and even "inequitable". The inequity would have been avoided by following the controlling precedent of Chatlos and their own precedent in Bradford.

Plaintiff further contends that the First DCA has also strictly interpreted Rule 1.525, and cites to <u>Ulico Casualty</u>

<u>Co.</u> v. <u>Kennedy</u>, 821 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) and <u>Atkins</u>
v. Eris, 873 So. 2d 1264 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). In Ulico, the

motion was filed 47 days late. In <u>Atkins</u>, the successful party sought costs, but the motion in question requested only attorneys' fees. The court held the motion could not serve as the basis for an award of costs. The motion was served prior to entry of final judgment, and the court specifically declined to address the issue of timeliness of the motion. Accordingly, <u>Atkins</u> did not decide whether a motion served before entry of final judgment would be timely under Rule 1.525.

Norris argues in Point 2 of her brief that the court below, in affirming the judgment for fees and costs, was in conflict with "every" other District Court of Appeal. Her argument is not suppported by the citations. Other than the Second DCA holding in <a href="Swann v. Dinan">Swann v. Dinan</a>, 884 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004), which was certified as in conflict with <a href="Norris">Norris</a> and the similar Second DCA holding in <a href="Lyn">Lyn</a>, 884 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004), <a href="Norris">Norris</a> is either consistent with, or not in conflict with, the rulings in the other districts.

In <u>Yachting Promotions</u>, <u>Inc.</u> v. <u>Broward Yachts</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 876 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), the trial court denied a motion for attorneys' fees, finding the motion too late and not timely. The appellate court reversed, noting that since no judgment had been entered, the 30 days had not started to run.

Similarly, in <u>E & A Produce Corp.</u> v. <u>Superior Garlic</u>
International, Inc., 864 So.2d 449 (Fla.3rd DCA 2003), no

judgment had been entered, and the court found that Rule 1.525 did not apply.

In <u>Gulf Landings Assoc., Inc.</u> v. <u>Hershberger</u>, 845 So. 2d 844 (Fla.2nd DCA 2003), <u>no</u> motion for fees was ever filed. In <u>Wentworth</u> v. <u>Johnson</u>, 845 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003), the motion for fees was served 61 days after entry of final judgment.

In <u>State Dept. of Transportation</u> v. <u>Southtrust Bank</u>, 886 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), the court held that a judgment based upon a motion to enlarge, served with a late motion for fees, would be upheld upon a showing of excusable neglect.

In <u>Braxton</u> v. <u>Morris</u>, 2005 WL 1277816 (Fla.1st DCA 2005), the First DCA held that the reservation of jurisdiction in a final judgment did not constitute an automatic extension of time to file a motion under Rule 1.525.

Accordingly, none of the cases cited by Plaintiff/Petitioner to support the proposition that the <a href="Norris">Norris</a> court decision below was a "unique determination", at variance with the other districts, actually support that proposition.

Notably, the 4th DCA has recently reached the same conclusion as <u>Norris</u> and held that a motion for fees and costs served <u>before</u> entry of judgment was <u>within</u> thirty days, and hence timely. <u>State Farm</u> v. <u>Horkheimer</u>, 901 So.2d 329 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005).

Petitioner makes numerous references to the "bright line" of Rule 1.525, as do several of the cases cited in the Initial

Brief. Consistent with precedent, the "bright line" is a deadline, which expires 30 days after the entry of judgment. The "bright line" does not describe a window.

The rules are to be construed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action. Rule 1.010, Fla. R. Civ. P. Procedural rules should be given construction calculated to further justice, not frustrate it. Singletary v. State, 322 So.2nd 551 (Fla. 1974). Construction should not become so technical as to obscure the intended purpose of the rules: that a case be decided on its merits. Pruitt v. Block, 437 So.2d 768 (Fla.1st DCA 1983).

In its opinion below, the First DCA recognized that

Norris was making a "technical argument" for a "...very narrow window..." The court also recognized that the problem addressed by the amendment to the rule was the uncertainty created by excessive <u>tardiness</u> in filing motions for fees and costs.

We do not deal here with a case in which no motion has been served, or in which a late motion has been served. We have a motion served, in Petitioner's view at least, too soon. Petitioner argues that an early motion should be a nullity, to be treated as if no motion was served. This argument depends upon an interpretation of Rule 1.525 which would say that the rule establishes, not a deadline, but a narrow, 30 day window, for service of a motion. This Court has rejected such an interpretation and held that the term "within" sets a deadline and not a starting point or a window. The rule should

be construed in a manner consistent with this Court's holding in <u>Chatlos</u>, and in accordance with the principle of deciding a case on its merits, rather than a technicality. The ruling below should be affirmed.

#### VII. CONCLUSION

Early is not the same as late or not at all. Defendant Treadwell served his motion before, not after, a deadline, in a manner consistent with well-established precedent.

The trial judge and the First DCA considered the argument Petitioner now makes, rejected it, and properly awarded costs and

fees to the Defendant. These rulings followed wellestablished law and should be affirmed.